



400-65 ST. CLAIR AVE. EAST TORONTO, ON M4T 2Y8

T. 416.925.2493 1.800.268.7230

catholicteachers.ca

PRE-BUDGET BRIEF

Submission to the Standing
Committee on
Finance and
Economic Affairs



The Ontario English Catholic Teachers' Association (OECTA) represents the 45,000 passionate and qualified teachers in Ontario's publicly funded English Catholic schools, from Kindergarten to Grade 12.

Liz Stuart President Marshall Jarvis General Secretary

Ontario English Catholic Teachers' Association 65 St. Clair Avenue East, Suite 400 Toronto, ON M4T 2Y8 416.925.2493 or 1.800.268.7230 Fax: 416.925.7764

catholicteachers.ca

January 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION	1
2.	EDUCATION FOR ALL	
	Mental Health	3
	Safer Schools for All	4
	Special Education	4
	Education Quality and Accountability Office	5
	Full-day Kindergarten	6
	Indigenous Education	7
	English Language Learners	8
	Adult and Continuing Education	9
	Professional Development	10
	Holding School Boards to Account	11
	Publicly Funded Catholic Education	12
3.	SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC JUSTICE	14
	Dignity and Fairness for the People	14
	Publicly Funded Child Care	17
4.	A BALANCED APPROACH	1.0
	A DALANCED AFFROACH	10
5.	CONCLUSION	20
6.	WORKS CITED	21

1. INTRODUCTION

- **1.01** The Ontario English Catholic Teachers' Association (OECTA) welcomes the opportunity to provide input for the development of the 2019 provincial budget.
- 1.02 Although there are disagreements as to the exact figures, there is no disputing that the provincial budget is in deficit. It is also widely expected that economic growth will slow sometime in the near or medium term, which could reduce government revenues and increase budgetary pressure. The government has been clear that its plan to address these issues is to reduce government spending while cutting taxes (Ministry of Finance 2018a). However, Catholic teachers believe it is crucial that the government consider Ontario's current fiscal situation in the proper context, and proceed in accordance with the values and interests of all Ontarians.
- 1.03 Ontario's finances are not in crisis. Despite claims of unsustainable government expenditures, program spending as a share of GDP is just barely above what it was in 2008, before the onset of the recession. Meanwhile, debt service as a percentage of revenue is almost half of what it was in 1999. Ontario is also simultaneously one of the lowest per capita spenders on government programs of any Canadian province or territory, and one of the lowest per capita collectors of revenue (Block 2019).
- 1.04 Furthermore, while it is prudent to consider how public resources can be used most effectively and efficiently, any meaningful debate must acknowledge the necessity of significant investments in public services and infrastructure. It is simply not possible to reduce spending in education, health, social services, and other areas without negatively affecting the well-being of individuals and families. There is also considerable evidence to show that these investments pay dividends in the short and long term for the broader society and economy.
- 1.05 Based on Catholic teachers' professional experience, as well as a wide body of research, this submission will discuss a number of areas in the publicly funded education system that are in need of attention. We will also recommend that the government take action to reduce poverty and inequality, while respecting workers' rights. Finally, we will outline our support for a balanced approach to deficit

reduction, including continued investments in public goods and services. Overall, we will urge the government to remain focused on its primary responsibility of helping to provide equity, opportunity, and long-term health and prosperity for all Ontarians.

2. EDUCATION FOR ALL

- 2.01 By almost any measure, Ontario's education system has made great strides over the past 15 years. We have fostered increased literacy and numeracy, advances in early childhood education, and a dramatic reduction in low-performing schools. According to the latest results of the Pan-Canadian Assessment Program (PCAP) and the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA), Ontario remains one of the top-performing jurisdictions in reading, mathematics, and science (CMEC 2016; OECD 2016). We also have relatively small gaps in performance between high- and low-income students, and between Canadian- and foreign-born students.
- 2.02 This success is due in large part to the way evidence and experience have guided education policymaking, and the important investments that have been made in programs with well-established, long-term benefits. The co-operative professional relationship between policymakers and teachers in Ontario has been held up as a model for others to follow, providing further evidence that education systems work best when education policy is developed collaboratively (Schleicher 2018; OECD 2011). Catholic teachers hope the government will continue giving due consideration to the perspectives of teachers, who are the frontline workers in the field of education.
- 2.03 Making our schools the best they can be does not require dramatic upheaval. School communities across the province have been clear and consistent that the most helpful course of action would be to provide safe, supportive, well-resourced environments for teachers and students to work and learn. Although the government has signalled its desire to make significant cuts to the education budget, we must remember that a strong, stable, publicly funded education system is not only the most equitable and efficient model, it is a top priority for most Ontarians. Rather than going backward, we should be building on the solid foundation that is in place, and asking whether current levels of investment are

sufficient to create quality working and learning conditions that will fully meet students' diverse needs.

2.04 Mental Health

There is broad consensus among teachers, students, parents, and health care professionals that significant investments are needed in mental health supports. The government has said it will spend \$1.9 billion over ten years on mental health and addictions services, but it is unclear how much of this funding will be directed to children and youth.

- 2.05 Up to 70 per cent of mental health issues emerge by adolescence, but young people remain the least likely of any age group to receive adequate care (Government of Canada 2006). According to the most recent data, almost 20 per cent of students in Grades 7 to 12 in Ontario report their mental health as fair or poor, and nearly a third of those who wanted to speak to a professional about their mental health issues over the past two years did not know where to turn (Boak et al. 2017). More than 12,000 children and youth are waiting to access mental health services, many of whom are having to turn to emergency services through clinics and hospitals (CMHO 2018; MHASEF Research Team 2017).
- 2.06 Beyond the stress this causes for families and households, not to mention the strain on the health care system, it is also well-established that undiagnosed or untreated mental health issues are a significant impediment to student engagement and achievement. By providing more mental health supports in schools, where children and youth spend much of their time, we can reduce stigma, connect students to their communities, and deliver more responsive, cost-effective service, leading to better health outcomes and improved academic performance. Progress has been made through programs like School Mental Health ASSIST and Mental Health and Addiction Nurses in District School Boards, but we are still not moving fast enough in developing a comprehensive, adequately resourced approach that strikes an appropriate balance between prevention and intervention, especially early and ongoing intervention.

2.07 Naturally, the mental health needs of students, and the accessibility of services, varies in accordance with the population and geography of our school communities. We must ensure that rural schools and/or schools with lower student populations are not disadvantaged in terms of access to services. This is an area where co-ordination between the Ministry of Education and other ministries, and further exploration of the community hub model, could be effective.

2.08 Safer Schools for All

For several years, our Association has been discussing the increasing frequency and severity of violence and harassment against teachers, especially at the elementary level. In our recent survey of classroom teachers, 85 per cent of respondents said the incidence of violence against teachers is increasing, while 80 per cent said incidents are becoming more severe. This has repercussions for everyone in the school community. More than three-quarters of respondents said violence in schools makes teaching more difficult, and more than a quarter have had to take time away from work due to the physical or mental toll of a violent incident (OECTA 2017a).

2.09 Some progress has been made over the past few years in terms of standardizing and enforcing reporting procedures, but there is still a long way to go to fully implement the solutions outlined in our Safer Schools for All platform (OECTA 2017b). Most importantly, more professional services, such as child and youth workers, social workers, and psychologists, are required to help students deal with their social, emotional, and behavioural needs. These investments will help students manage their behaviours and achieve academic success in the short and long term, while enabling teachers and the rest of the school community to focus on making learning happen in a safe and secure environment.

2.10 Special Education

Increased funding for special education over the past decade has paid dividends. For example, according to EQAO data, in 2009-10, 27 per cent of Grade 3 students with special education needs were at or above the provincial standard in reading; in 2017-18 it was 46 per cent. For Grade 6 students with special education needs, the percentage at or above the provincial standard increased from 34 per cent in 2009-10 to 54 per cent in 2017-18.

- 2.11 Still, schools across the province are having difficulty providing for all students' special education needs. It has been reported that more than 80 per cent of school boards are spending more on special education than they are allotted by the province, and some students are being asked to stay home because their school is not able to provide appropriate services and supports on a daily basis (Rushowy and Ferguson 2015). Only 72 per cent of rural elementary schools report having a full-time special education teacher, and the average ratio of students receiving special education support to special education teachers is 36:1 in elementary school and 74:1 in secondary school (People for Education 2018). School boards require sufficient resources to provide services for all students with special education needs, as well as proper resources and guidance around class size and class composition to facilitate integration into the classroom (Froese-Germain and Riel 2012).
- 2.12 Catholic teachers were particularly disappointed by the government's decision to cancel the planned increase to the Special Incidence Portion (SIP), which has been capped at \$27,000 since 1998. This amount is well below the salary grid for educational assistants and is not nearly enough to cover the increasing costs of specialized staff and necessary materials. The planned increase to SIP would have enabled schools to hire additional staff to support students with special education needs, which would have improved the learning environment for everyone. While Catholic teachers recommend a variety of investments in special education, at the very least the planned increase in SIP funding that students, families, and schools were counting on should be immediately restored.

2.13 Education Quality and Accountability Office

There are serious and well-founded concerns about the stress that high-stakes testing causes for students, teachers, and administrators (Kempf 2016). Although EQAO tests are supposedly not meant to be used to rank schools, we know they are often employed as a basis for comparison. Trustees and superintendents feel nervous about how their schools will measure up, which leads to pressure being exerted on principals, who pass it on to teachers, who then have to spend weeks focusing on the specific types of questions and answers that will be found on the tests. If results in one year are deemed unsatisfactory, the anxiety is only heightened the following year. We also know that some boards and schools are

diverting resources away from supports for delivering curriculum and toward test preparation materials.

- 2.14 Students most especially feel the pressure to perform well on EQAO tests and the Ontario Secondary School Literacy Test is a requirement to graduate. The stress and anxiety exacerbates learning challenges, mental health issues, or other issues that students are experiencing, and often negatively affects their performance.
- 2.15 To make matters worse, province-wide standardized testing does not give an accurate reflection of student ability, because it only captures a moment in time and fails to account for the range of skills and factors that affect achievement. While some argue that standardized testing is necessary to provide essential information to improve student achievement and ensure the education system is accountable to taxpayers, the reality is that teachers already use our professional judgment to conduct assessments for, as, and of learning. We use the results of these assessments to modify our instruction and provide individual attention, as well as to complete provincial report cards (OTF 2017).
- 2.16 Clearly, standardized testing is not a good use of education resources. If the government still believes some sort of province-wide testing is necessary, they should at least move toward a random sampling model. This would produce accurate results at a fraction of the current costs, while reducing the level of student anxiety and allowing most teachers and students to remain focused on genuine learning activities and more meaningful classroom assessments.

2.17 Full-day Kindergarten

Parents, teachers, early childhood educators (ECEs), administrators, and researchers agree that Ontario's full-day Kindergarten (FDK) program is preparing children socially and academically, leading to better outcomes in later years (Alphonso 2017; Janmohamed 2014). New longitudinal research provides more evidence of self-regulatory and academic gains, with benefits being apparent in all academic areas at the end of Kindergarten and remaining significantly greater to the end of the primary division (Pelletier and Corter 2019).

- 2.18 However, there are still some issues that are keeping the program from being fully effective for all students. For example, although the previous government took some action to address the problem, more should be done to reduce the number of large and/or split classes. It is also imperative that we continue to respect and support the functioning of the teacher/ECE teams. When the FDK program was developed, the teacher/ECE teams were recommended based on pilot tests in Ontario and elsewhere, in which teams were found to add to the professional preparation and skillset of each team member (Pascal 2009). ECEs bring specialized knowledge about early childhood development, which is valuable for fostering emotional regulation and social skills. Meanwhile, certified teachers bring high levels of skills and training related to teaching methods, planning, and assessment. We are able to structure the play-based curriculum in a way that optimizes learning, and to individualize instruction when necessary. We understand the whole child and are best equipped to prepare students and integrate them into the next stages of their learning. Research has shown that Ontario's FDK staff teams are uniting around the mission to support children and families (Pelletier 2014). Rather than disrupting this effective dynamic, the government should provide sufficient resources to ensure that a certified teacher and an ECE are present in all FDK classrooms at all times during the instructional day.
- 2.19 Ontario's FDK program is a ground-breaking, world-leading initiative. The investment will continue to pay dividends long into the future for students, families, the economy, and society. The government should continue to support the FDK program so it can honour its original promise.

2.20 Indigenous Education

The 2015 report of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission drew attention to a number of issues pertaining to Indigenous youth and education. While much of the focus has been on students attending on-reserve schools, it is important to note that in Ontario the majority of Indigenous students attend a provincially funded school. In fact, there are Indigenous students in almost every community: 92 per cent of elementary schools and 96 per cent of secondary schools have at least some Indigenous students (Gallagher-Mackay et al. 2013).

- 2.21 By now, most Ontarians recognize the importance of integrating Indigenous perspectives into the curriculum. This year, 74 per cent of elementary schools and 84 per cent of secondary schools report having offered at least one Indigenous learning opportunity, a substantial increase from 2014 (People for Education 2018). However, Indigenous and non-Indigenous educators still need support and resources to ensure they are properly reflecting Indigenous histories and knowledge in the classroom. This is why Catholic teachers and others across Ontario were so disappointed that one of the government's first actions upon taking office was to cancel planned curriculum resource writing sessions. We strongly urge the government to reconvene these sessions at the earliest opportunity.
- 2.22 There are also significant resource gaps in schools with high proportions of Indigenous students compared to other schools in the province, including lower than average access to guidance teachers, teacher-librarians, and music and physical education programs (Gallagher-Mackay et al. 2013). These resource gaps must be overcome if we are going to address the achievement gap between Indigenous and non-Indigenous students. The previous government was making significant steps in this regard, increasing funding and collecting data on a voluntary basis in order to provide appropriate programs and supports. The new government should not turn its back on these efforts, especially as the need will only become more urgent, given that Indigenous children are the fastest-growing child population segment in Canada (UNICEF Canada 2018). Integrating Indigenous students into their school communities and enabling them to realize their full potential will reduce marginalization and pay significant social and economic dividends over the long term (Sharpe and Arsenault 2010).

2.23 English Language Learners

Currently, funding for English as a Second Language (ESL) and English Literacy Development (ELD) programs is based on census data and immigration statistics. While these figures provide an estimate, they do not accurately reflect English Language Learners' needs based on actual proficiency. This problem was noted 15 years ago by the Education Equality Task Force, which also condemned the inadequacy of the duration of supports, a sentiment echoed more recently by the Auditor General of Ontario (2017).

2.24 The current funding formula also "fails to recognize the additional costs associated with higher densities of ESL needs in areas with high levels of immigration," while a lack of oversight and transparency mechanisms means some school boards might not be spending the funds on programming for students who need support (Mackenzie 2017). For instance, English Language Learners often require additional supports to acclimate to a new school and culture, especially those who have recently arrived to Canada. These resources help English Language Learners connect to their schools and communities, which in turn contributes to their academic success. Investing more in English language supports, including properly trained teachers, will ensure students are able to interact with their peers, achieve academic success, and ultimately contribute in our society.

2.25 Adult and Continuing Education

Adult and continuing education programs are funded at roughly two-thirds the level of regular day school credit programs, which has previously been calculated to result in annual underfunding of \$112 million (Mackenzie 2015). In June 2017, the government announced \$185 million in funding over four years, as part of Ontario's Lifelong Learning and Skills plan, but this still is not enough to close the gap. At the same time, funding allocations from Special Purpose Grants are directed only toward students in the regular day school program, even though in many cases adult and continuing education programs are being delivered to new immigrants or students who have been marginalized from the regular day school credit program.

- 2.26 As a result, students who have significant needs are often dealing with large class sizes, different classes being delivered in the same room, and a lack of early intervention processes, while teachers are often employed from contract to contract, with substandard salaries, working conditions, and rights. Funding is required so that school boards can provide the necessary supports to improve language skill assessment. At the same time, adult learners require additional and specific mental health supports to improve chances for successful completion of their respective programs.
- 2.27 Across Canada, one in five working age adults lack basic literacy and numeracy skills (Drewes and Meredith 2015). Research has shown that raising literacy skill levels would yield an annual rate of return of 251 per cent, with savings of \$542 million

across the country on social assistance alone (Murray and Shillington 2011). Furthermore, by improving basic language proficiency, fostering notions of citizenship and social engagement, and encouraging healthier lifestyles and relationships, we can reduce the need for later interventions in these areas and enhance the well-being of our democracy and society. Proper funding for adult and continuing education programs will undoubtedly provide value for money in the short and long term.

2.28 Professional Development

Teachers are dedicated lifelong learners, who continually upgrade our knowledge and skills, often on our own time and at our own expense, to ensure that we keep abreast of what is current and effective in our classrooms. Thousands of teachers have taken advantage of opportunities over the past few years to upgrade and refine our skills in math and technology (OCT 2017). The government has recently moved to implement a math test for incoming teachers, but a more fruitful method would be to ensure that teachers have the resources and supports necessary to deliver math content in the classroom.

- 2.29 A prime example of this type of professional learning is the Teacher Learning and Leadership Program (TLLP). In the final report on the 2017-18 program, a group of respected education researchers once again found that "by providing the conditions (funding, training, and ongoing support) for a self-selected and self-directed professional development effort, the TLLP facilitates active, collaborative learning that is embedded in teachers' work, informed by evidence, and provides opportunities for authentic leadership experiences." The benefits of this learning are enjoyed not only by the teams involved, but also by the broader school community. "TLLP projects have a positive effect on students' engagement, attitude, and learning experience" the researchers found, and "some TLLP projects help develop better connections with parents and local communities as well" (Campbell et al. 2018).
- 2.30 Teachers across the province were greatly disappointed to learn of the government's decision to cancel funding for TLLP projects for the 2018-19 school year. We hope this is not an indication of the direction the government will be taking in the months and years ahead. Especially given the changes that are being made to curriculum, it is imperative that more resources be provided for teacher-led,

teacher-directed professional development – the most efficient and effective form of professional learning. This will ensure that teachers' knowledge is relevant and up-to-date, based on the current, job-embedded experiences of our colleagues, and designed to address the needs of our students (CEA 2015; Darling-Hammond and McLaughlin 1995).

2.31 Holding School Boards to Account

While we believe our students and schools deserve greater investments, teachers are also concerned about how resources are allocated, and whether school boards are held accountable for their decisions. For example, our Association has for many years been raising the issue of how school boards are using Special Purpose Grants, such as the Learning Opportunities Grant or funds for English as a Second Language programs. With an overall education budget that does not match student needs, and legal pressure to balance their books, school boards are compelled to use these grants to fill gaps in funding for core programs and expenses (Queiser 2017; Brown 2013; Casey 2013). The Toronto District School Board attracts most of the media attention in this regard, but Catholic teachers report similar problems elsewhere in the province.

- 2.32 It is imperative that new funds for mental health services, special education programs, professional services and supports, and other initiatives are spent as intended. Rather than scaling back reporting requirements, we should be strengthening the process by which funds are distributed and allocated. In many cases, there is still no clear process to determine how allocations are made until after funding has been distributed. To hold school boards to account, there should be an annual process of consultation with teacher representatives at each school board regarding locally determined expenditures, as well as prompt reporting with real-time transfers of data where possible.
- 2.33 Occasional teacher funding is another area of concern. There have been several media reports in recent months pointing to a shortage of occasional teachers available to fill vacancies. The data we have seen show that, in some cases, as many as 40 per cent of vacancies are not being covered. This appears to be an issue in all publicly funded education systems in Ontario. There are legitimate reasons why there might be fewer occasional teachers available than in past years. Some

teachers who had previously been seeking permanent positions may have moved on to other work, and reduced enrolment in teacher education programs is resulting in fewer graduates. However, it is also possible that some school boards are deciding not to fill absences as a means of saving money. In some cases, teachers are being pulled from other classrooms or specialized programs, which creates shortages in coverage elsewhere in the school and undermines program delivery. It is imperative that the government ensure school boards are filling teacher absences appropriately. For every absence that goes unfilled, the strain on other teachers and staff in the school is increased, and students are denied a day of quality learning.

2.34 OECTA members believe that as much as possible, school boards should be directing funding toward the fundamental ingredient in a successful education system: the interaction between a well-trained teacher and a well-supported student.

Unfortunately, this is not always the case. We are particularly troubled that a number of school boards are turning to organizations such as School Boards'

Co-operative Inc. (SCBI) to advise them on issues of worker's compensation, health and safety, and attendance management, despite the fact that boards already employ staff for these purposes in schools and central offices. SBCI hides its data and methodology from the public, making it impossible to verify findings. This is especially problematic given that SBCI profits by promoting these unverified findings and selling one-size-fits-all solutions. This is a poor use of education funding, which is not in the interests of students or school communities.

2.35 Publicly Funded Catholic Education

Publicly funded Catholic schools have made significant contributions to the overall excellence of Ontario's world-renowned education system. In addition to teaching literacy, math, science, and other skills, we are developing students' character and commitment to the common good, encouraging them to be discerning believers, creative and holistic thinkers, self-directed learners, caring family members, and responsible citizens. There are almost 650,000 students attending publicly funded Catholic schools in Ontario, including many non-Catholic students whose parents have chosen the system's high standards and well-rounded methods for their children.

- a significant amount of money, but history and scholarship suggests the opposite is true. Dr. John Wiens, former Dean of the Faculty of Education at the University of Manitoba, put the matter succinctly: "If it's about money, I think there is actually no evidence to show at all that anybody has saved money by [consolidating boards]" (CBC 2016). In Alberta, a study of the restructuring of the school system in the late 1990s found that the implementation costs associated with the mergers exceeded any resulting savings (Pysyk 2000). Ontario's experience with school board amalgamation in the late 1990s led to hundreds of millions of dollars in costs for transition and restructuring. Even conservative organizations like the Fraser Institute have found that amalgamating large organizations almost always results in high transition costs and limited long-term savings (Miljan and Spicer 2015).
- 2.37 At the same time, there are opportunities to make more efficient use of education resources, by using provincially funded buildings in more collaborative ways and incentivizing inter-ministerial and municipal co-operation. One potential avenue is shared facilities, specifically for co-terminus boards. In its 2014-15 Pre-Budget Consultation Summary, the previous government noted that "co-locating the schools of coterminous boards in the same facility was an idea with fairly broad support" (Ministry of Education 2014). Naturally, this would have to be done while protecting each school system's unique framework and structures, but there are significant opportunities to make efficient use of resources while ensuring that more communities have access to important public services.
- 2.38 There are several successful examples of such arrangements in Ontario. The Humberwood Centre houses Holy Child Catholic School, Humberwood Downs public school, a branch of the Toronto Public Library, the Humberwood Community Centre, as well as the 280-space Macaulay Child Development Centre. In Brantford, St. Basil's Catholic Elementary School and Walter Gretzky Elementary School each have a wing in the 90,000-square-foot shared facility. These sorts of shared facilities can be helpful in maximizing cost efficiency, specifically in rural areas where enrolment declines have raised the specter of school closures.

2.39 In addition to co-location, Ontarians can also benefit from shared services agreements. A feasibility study of 11 Ontario school boards revealed that shared services in areas such as energy and transportation could produce ongoing annual savings of \$3 to 8 million per year, which would represent a 13 to 28 per cent savings on these boards' annual total expenditures (Deloitte 2012). Ultimately, exploring options for shared services agreements and co-locating schools is a far more effective approach than board amalgamation, not only in meeting the needs of students and communities, but also in making efficient use of school space.

3. SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC JUSTICE

3.01 A commitment to equity and the alleviation of suffering is at the centre of Catholic teachers' worldview. We also see the consequences of poverty and inequality every day in our classrooms. The evidence clearly shows that by providing adequate social assistance, decent work and working conditions, and efficient and effective public services such as child care, the government can enable everyone to realize their full potential, participate in their community, and contribute to the economy.

3.02 Dignity and Fairness for the People

Income inequality is one of the defining issues of our times. As an increasing number of Ontarians find themselves in precarious work, and we fail to evolve our social safety net accordingly, our economy and society are at risk. Even conservative, market-oriented voices are concerned. For example, researchers at the International Monetary Fund have found that lower inequality is "robustly correlated with faster and more durable [economic] growth" (Ostry, Berg, and Tsangarides 2014). Canadian economists have warned that inequality threatens social mobility and long-term prosperity (Alexander and Fong 2014). The World Economic Forum (2017) cites inequality as a key risk to the global economy, as the growing gap in income shares is leading to political polarization and the fraying of social institutions.

3.03 The problem has been particularly acute in Ontario. From the 1980s to 2010, Ontario experienced the largest percentage change in income inequality of any Canadian province (ICP 2013; Osberg and Sharpe 2011). In the time since, there has only

been a further "hollowing out" of the economy for the lowest-earning households, with the top half of Ontario families now taking home 81 per cent of all earnings (Block 2017).

- 3.04 While those at the top of the income scale are taking home an increasingly large share, not enough is being done to help those at the bottom. The previous provincial government, along with the federal government, took some incremental steps to address poverty, but according to the latest statistics from Campaign 2000 (2018), 19.5 per cent of children in Ontario, and one in seven families with children, lived in poverty in 2016.
- 3.05 The government claimed it would be implementing a policy agenda "for the people," but rather than levelling the playing field, most of the actions taken since the election are only making the things worse. To name just a few examples:
 - Despite an explicit campaign promise to continue with the project, the
 government abruptly cancelled the Ontario Basic Income Pilot. This not only
 denied researchers in Ontario and around the world the ability to study a
 potentially promising social policy initiative (Monsebraaten 2018a), it betrayed
 the trust and harmed the well-being of the people and communities who were
 participating in the project (Ingram 2018).
 - The government cancelled a planned increase to the minimum wage and replaced it with a tax credit, despite the fact that a wage increase would have made recipients better off, and there is no evidence to support the claim that higher minimum wages have reduced employment in Ontario (Crawley 2018a; Crawley 2018b; Herrera 2018).
 - With Bill 47, the government rolled back crucial new labour standards in areas such as scheduling, equal pay, and paid sick leave that had been implemented after years of careful study and consultation with labour relations experts, employers, and working people.

- The Ministry of Labour has been directed not to conduct proactive employment standards inspections, which have been widely recommended as the most fair and effective means of ensuring that employers are following the law (Ladd and Gellatly 2016).
- The government announced changes to Ontario Works and the Ontario Disability Support Program that will make it harder for some people to enrol and/or stay on social assistance. This is after planned increases to social assistance rates reduced by half.
- 3.06 The government has argued that its policies will increase choice, flexibility, and opportunity, while reducing the responsibility and burden on government, but the real effect will be to leave millions of Ontarians in precarious, potentially unsafe conditions (Saul 2018). Ontario's working poor and other vulnerable citizens need immediate assistance to ensure they can live in safety and dignity. At the very least, the hard-won employment standards that have been cut over the past few months should be restored, and there should be immediate, substantial increases to assistance rates for Ontario Works and the Ontario Disability Support Plan.
- 3.07 The government has also demonstrated a troubling disregard for organized labour and the collective bargaining process. This has included intervening to end or prevent strike action, making it easier for public sector organizations to hire non-union employees, and reforming arbitration processes. This should concern all Ontarians. There is a popular misconception that unions are bad for business, but evidence from Canada and around the world shows that in reality, organized labour reduces inequality and improves economic performance (Jaumotte and Buitron 2015; Fortin et al. 2012). Furthermore, the Supreme Court of Canada has recently affirmed the rights to unionize (Fine 2015a), to bargain collectively (Zussman 2016), and to strike (Fine 2015b). Moving forward, the government must show due respect for workers' rights, organized labour, and the collective bargaining process.

3.08 Publicly Funded Child Care

The government will surely receive a number of submissions detailing the need for public investments in health care, infrastructure, job training, and other vital public goods and services. However, as teachers, we feel a particular responsibility to highlight the utility and wisdom of public investments in early childhood education and care (ECEC).

- 3.09 Affordable, accessible, high quality ECEC increases equity in learning outcomes, reduces poverty, and creates a strong foundation for lifelong learning (McCuaig, Bertrand, and Shanker 2012). It also improves labour force participation, particularly among women, and helps to boost household incomes. These benefits are shared by society and the economy as a whole. According to one recent analysis, every dollar the public spends expanding enrolment in early childhood education and care yields close to six dollars in economic benefits (Alexander et al. 2017).
- 3.10 Quebec's child care model, which has now been in place for 20 years, offers ample evidence of the tremendous benefits and cost-effectiveness of this type of program. The government spends roughly 0.6 per cent of GDP on the program, which is equal to the average spending among advanced economies for early childhood education and care. In return, the labour force participation rate of women in Quebec has increased to 85 per cent, compared to 80 per cent elsewhere in Canada. The rate for mothers of children up to age five has increased to 80 per cent, compared to 71 per cent elsewhere in Canada. Furthermore, using 2008 data, it has been calculated that the total increase in revenue exceeded the total increase in expenditure by \$919 million (Fortin 2018).
- 3.11 Unfortunately, since the election, Ontario's government has been moving in the opposite direction when it comes to child care. For example, the government has removed the cap on provincial funding for private child care, and cut funding for fee subsidies for low-income families. This is incredibly troubling given all the available evidence about the high cost of child care and the importance of supporting licensed, not-for-profit options as the best way of ensuring accessible, high quality care (Cleveland 2018; Mahoney 2018; Macdonald and Friendly 2017). The government has also proposed loosening regulations on carer-to-child ratios in unlicensed child care spaces, just a short time after these regulations were enhanced in response to

- tragic deaths. Parents are rightly concerned about the impact these changes will have on quality and safety (Reddekopp 2018).
- 3.12 Parents and other advocates are also concerned that the government's plans for investments in child care so far include only a meagre tax credit. There are currently licensed child care spaces for just over 20 per cent of children under the age of 12 a tax rebate will do nothing to increase the number of licensed spaces (Friendly et al. 2018). Nor will it help to improve the poor wages or working conditions of early childhood educators, which are essential for attracting qualified child care workers and ensuring the quality of services (AECEO 2017; Halfon and Langford 2015). Especially if the tax credit is financed by reducing spending on other child care initiatives, it will undoubtedly leave many families worse off than they are now (Monsebraaten 2018b).
- 3.13 The evidence is clear that an affordable, high quality, publicly funded, and universally accessible system of child care would be efficient and beneficial for all Ontarians. The government should view a robust, properly designed and funded child care system not as a luxury we cannot afford, but as a necessity we cannot do without. Ontario had been making slow but steady progress toward this goal, and Catholic teachers strongly urge the government to continue along this path.

4. A BALANCED APPROACH

- 4.01 When the budget is in deficit, the natural impulse is to look to reduce spending in the public sector. Tax cuts also carry obvious intuitive appeal, as they are believed to finance increased private investment and consumer spending. All Ontarians recognize that this is the government's intended path to a balanced budget. However, a more sensible and balanced approach would ask everyone to contribute their fair share toward investments with long-term benefits for our society and economy.
- **4.02** A government is not a household, and it is a mistake for the government to approach its finances like a family budget. Government spending not only serves to spur the

broader economy, create jobs, and fund vital public services, it is directly correlated with government income, through increased tax revenues (Fatas and Summers 2018; Somerville 2017; Kelton 2017). This pooling of resources and sharing of benefits provides tremendous value and improves quality of life for everyone (Mackenzie and Shillington 2009).

- 4.03 Ontario's relatively low per capita spending is partly due to the economies of scale that are possible in our more densely populated communities, but it also means there are inevitably areas in need of more support. And contrary to what consultants or business leaders often claim, it is certainly not possible to make drastic cuts without negatively affecting frontline services (Macdonald and Hatt 2014). Continuing to make efficient use of public funds by investing in a strong public sector including fair compensation and good working conditions for public sector workers will pay dividends in the short and long term, increasing equity and opportunity while providing an economic lifeline for communities across Ontario (Tranjan 2018).
- 4.04 The government also has a responsibility to consider the revenue side of the equation. Because of personal and corporate tax cuts that have been implemented since the 1990s, Ontario now has a structural revenue problem (Ruckert, Caldbick, and Labonté 2015). Unfortunately, the government has committed to exacerbating the issue. For example, the government has promised to decrease the general corporate tax rate, despite the fact that Ontario already has the lowest rate of any province, territory, or nearby American jurisdiction. This is on top of billions of dollars of promised personal income tax cuts, as well as the \$3 billion over the next four years that the government will be losing due to its decision to cancel the cap-and-trade program. Both Moody's Investors Service and the Financial Accountability Officer of Ontario have cited the government's approach to revenues as a significant contributor to budgetary pressure moving forward.
- 4.05 The rhetoric of belt-tightening and small government might be politically appealing, but by pursuing a strategy of cutting public spending and reducing taxation, the government is acting contrary to its stated goal of making Ontario "open for business" and further limiting its ability to invest in infrastructure and programs. This is hardly in the interests of the government or the people. With the province's population growing at 1.8 per cent per year, one of the highest rates in Canada, the

pressure on our public transportation systems, affordable housing supply, and other infrastructure and services will only increase (Ministry of Finance 2018b).

A balanced approach to deficit reduction would carefully consider both spending and revenues, while maintaining a priority on efficient public investments.

5. CONCLUSION

- 5.01 All Ontarians share the same basic values and priorities: we want a healthy, prosperous, and sustainable society and economy in which everyone has a fair chance to participate. Most Ontarians also believe the government has a critical role to play in achieving these ends.
- 5.02 While we all agree that making efficient and effective use of public resources is important, a fixation on cutting spending and reducing taxation is short-sighted and counterproductive. By investing in services like publicly funded education and child care, combatting poverty and respecting workers' rights, and taking a balanced approach to deficit reduction, the government can work toward its goal of balancing the budget while still responding to the needs of Ontarians. A government for the people should keep all citizens in mind and focus on moving the province forward, not backward.

6. WORKS CITED

Alexander, Craig, Kip Beckman, Alicia Macdonald, Cory Renner, and Matthew Stewart. (2017). *Ready for Life: A Socio-Economic Analysis of Early Childhood Education and Care*. Ottawa: Conference Board of Canada.

Alexander, Craig, and Francis Fong. (2014). "The Case of Leaning Against Income Inequality in Canada." TD Economics Special Report.

Alphonso, Caroline. (2017). "Ontario children gain learning benefits from full-day kindergarten: study." *Globe and Mail* (August 9).

Auditor General of Ontario. (2017). 2017 Annual Report. Toronto: Office of the Auditor General of Ontario.

Association of Early Childhood Educators Ontario (AECEO). (2017). Association of Early Childhood Educators Ontario Submission to the Gender Wage Gap Strategy Steering Committee. Toronto: AECEO.

Block, Sheila. (2019). *The State of Ontario's Finances: Cutting through the fog ahead of the 2019 budget*. Toronto: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives – Ontario.

Block, Sheila. (2017). *Losing Ground: Income Inequality in Ontario: 2000-15*. Toronto: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives – Ontario.

Boak, Angela, Hayley A. Hamilton, Edward M. Adlaf, Joanna L. Henderson, and Robert E. Mann. (2017). The mental health and well-being of Ontario students, 1991-2017: Detailed findings from the Ontario Student Drug Use and Health Survey (OSDUHS) (CAMH Research Document Series No. 47). Toronto: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.

Brown, Louise. (2013). "TDSB says it spends \$103M of special \$143M grant on kids in need." *Toronto Star* (May 6).

Campaign 2000. (2018). Poverty Hurts Children and Families. Toronto: Campaign 2000.

Campbell, Carol, Ann Lieberman, Ana Yashkina, Sharon Alexander, and Joelle Rodway. (2018). Research Report: Teacher Learning & Leadership Program 2017-18. Toronto: OTF.

Canadian Education Association (CEA). (2015). *The Facts on Education: What is Effective Teacher Professional Development?* Toronto: Canadian Education Association.

Casey, Liam. (2013). "TDSB diverting \$100 million annually from programs for underprivileged students, report says." *Toronto Star* (May 6).

CBC News. (2016). "No big bucks to be saved by merging school divisions: expert." CBC News (November 18).

Children's Mental Health Ontario (CMHO). (2018). *Kids Can't Wait: Improving Mental Health Outcomes for Ontario's Children and Youth – 2018 Pre-budget Submission*. Toronto: CMHO.

Cleveland, Gordon. (2018). Affordable for All: Making Licensed Child Care Affordable in Ontario. Toronto: Cleveland Consulting.

Council of Ministers of Education, Canada (CMEC). (2016). Report on the Pan-Canadian Assessment of Reading, Mathematics, and Science. Toronto: CMEC.

Crawley, Mike. (2018a). "No sign minimum wage hike was 'job killer' Doug Ford says it was." CBC News (October 25).

Crawley, Mike. (2018b). "How Doug Ford's pledge of 'zero income tax' leaves minimum wage workers worse off." CBC News (April 18).

Darling-Hammond, Linda, and Milbrey McLaughlin. (1995). "Policies that Support Professional Development in an Era of Reform." Phi Delta Kappan 76, no. 8: 597-604.

Deloitte. (2012). The Case for Shared Services in Ontario's School Board Sector: A Feasibility Study Based on Eleven School Boards. Toronto: Deloitte & Touche LLP.

Drewes, Torben, and Tyler Meredith. (2015). "If at First You Don't Succeed: Toward an Adult Education and Training Strategy for Canada." *IRPP Study* No. 54.

Fatas, Antonia, and Lawrence Summers. (2018). "The permanent effects of fiscal consolidations." *Journal of International Economics* 112: 238-250.

Fine, Sean. (2015a). "Supreme Court backs Mounties' right to unionize." *Globe and Mail* (January 16).

Fine, Sean. (2015b). "Canadian workers have fundamental right to strike, top court rules." Globe and Mail (January 30).

Fortin, Pierre. (2018). "Quebec's Childcare Program at 20." Inroads 42.

Friendly, Martha, Elise Larsen, Laura Feltham, Bethany Grady, Barry Forer, Michelle Jones. (2018). *Early Childhood Education and Care in Canada 2016*. Toronto: Childcare Resource and Research Unit.

Froese-Germain, Bernie, and Richard Riel. (2012). *Understanding Teachers' Perspectives on Mental Health: Findings from a National Survey*. Ottawa: Canadian Teachers' Federation.

Gallagher-Mackay, Kelly, Annie Kidder, and Suzanne Methot. (2013). *First Nations, Métis, and Inuit Education: Overcoming Gaps in Provincially Funded Schools*. Toronto: People for Education.

Government of Canada. (2006). The Human Face of Mental Health and Mental Illness in Canada. Ottawa: Government of Canada.

Halfon, Shani, and Rachel Langford. (2015). "Developing and Supporting a High Quality Child Care Workforce in Canada: What are the barriers to change?" *Our Schools/Our Selves* 24, no. 4: 131-144.

Herrera, Juan Manuel. (2018). "Minimum Wage in Ontario: Impact on Jobs?" Scotiabank Global Economics: Insights & Views (February 16).

Ingram, Chad. (2018). "Residents decry end of basic income pilot project." *Minden Times* (September 27).

Institute for Competitiveness and Prosperity (ICP). (2013). "Making Sense of Public Dollars: Ontario Government Revenue, Spending, and Debt." *Institute for Competitiveness and Prosperity Working Paper* No. 16.

Janmohamed, Zeenat, Kerry McCuaig, Emis Akbari, Romona Gananathan, and Jennifer Watkins. (2014). *Schools at the Centre: Findings from Case Studies Exploring Seamless Early Learning in Ontario*. Toronto: Atkinson Centre for Society and Child Development – Ontario Institute for Studies in Education.

Jaumotte, Florence, and Carolina Osoria Buitron. (2015). "Power from the People." *Finance & Development* 52, no. 1: 29-31.

Kelton, Stephanie. (2017). "How We Think About the Deficit is Mostly Wrong." New York Times (October 5).

Kempf, Arlo. (2016). The Pedagogy of Standardized Testing: the Radical Impacts of Standardization in the US and Canada. New York: Palgrave MacMillan.

Ladd, Deena, and Mary Gellatly. (2016). Building Decent Jobs from the Ground Up: Responding to the Changing Workplaces Review Special Advisors' Interim Report. Toronto: Workers' Action Centre and Parkdale Community Legal Services.

Macdonald, David, and Martha Friendly. (2017). *Time Out: Child care fees in Canada 2017*. Ottawa: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.

Macdonald, David, and Kayle Hatt. (2014). *At What Cost? The Impacts of Rushing to Balance the Budget*. Ottawa: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.

Mackenzie, Hugh. (2017). Shortchanging Ontario Students: An Overview and Assessment of Education Funding in Ontario. Toronto: Elementary Teachers' Federation of Ontario.

Mackenzie, Hugh. (2015). *Harris-era Hangovers: Toronto School Trustees' Inherited Funding Shortfall*. Toronto: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives – Ontario Office.

Mackenzie, Hugh, and Richard Shillington. (2009). Canada's Quiet Bargain: The Benefits of Public Spending. Ottawa: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.

Mahoney, Jill. (2018). "Child-care advocates fear next moves by Ontario government in daycare sector." Globe and Mail (September 16).

McCuaig, Kerry, Jane Bertrand, and Stuart Shanker. (2018). *Trends in Early Education and Child Care*. Toronto: Atkinson Centre for Society and Child Development, Ontario Institute for Studies in Education.

MHASEF Research Tem. (2017). *The Mental Health of Children and Youth in Ontario:* 2017 Scorecard. Toronto: Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences.

Miljan, Lydia, and Zachery Spicer. (2015). *Municipal Amalgamation in Ontario*. Vancouver: Fraser Institute.

Ministry of Education. (2014). *Consultation Summary: School Board Efficiencies and Modernization*. Toronto: Ministry of Education.

Ministry of Finance. (2018a). 2018 Ontario Economic Outlook and Fiscal Review: Ontario's Plan for the People. Toronto: Ministry of Finance.

Ministry of Finance. (2018b). *Ontario Population Projections Update, 2017-2014*. Toronto: Ministry of Finance.

Monsebraaten, Laurie. (2018a). "Cancellation of Ontario's basic income project sparks global outrage." *Toronto Star* (September 18).

Monsebraaten, Laurie. (2018b). "Worried parents and child care advocates ask 'what now?' in wake of PC win." *Toronto Star* (June 10).

Murray, T. Scott, and Richard Shillington. (2011). From Poverty to Prosperity: Literacy's Impact on Canada's Economic Success. Ottawa: Canadian Literacy and Learning Network.

Ontario College of Teachers (OCT). (2017). 2017 Annual Report: Setting the Standard for Great Teaching. Toronto: OCT.

OECD. (2011). Strong Performers and Successful Reformers in Education: Lessons from PISA for the United States. Paris: OECD.

Ontario English Catholic Teachers' Association (OECTA). (2017a). Workplace Violence and Harassment Against Teachers: Results of a Comprehensive Members Survey. Toronto: OECTA.

OECTA. (2017b). Safer Schools for All: Addressing Violence and Harassment Against Teachers. Toronto: OECTA.

Ontario Teachers' Federation (OTF). (2017). *More than Dots on a Chart: Setting a New Course for Assessment in Ontario*. Toronto: OTF.

Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2016). *PISA 2015:* Results in Focus. Paris: OECD.

Osberg, Lars, and Andrew Sharpe. (2011). *Beyond GDP: Measuring Economic Well-Being in Canada and the Provinces, 1981-2010.* Ottawa: Centre for the Study of Living Standards.

Ostry, Jonathan, Andrew Berg, and Charlambos Tsangarides. (2014). "Redistribution, Inequality, and Growth." *IMF Staff Discussion Note* SDN/14/02.

Pascal, Charles. (2009). With Our Best Future in Mind: Implementing Early Learning in Ontario – Report to the Premier by the Special Advisory on Early Learning. Toronto: Ministry of Education.

Pelletier, Janette, and James Corter. (2019). "A longitudinal comparison of learning outcomes in full-day and half-day kindergarten." The Journal of Educational Research (January 3).

Pelletier, Janette. (2014). "Ontario's Full-Day Kindergarten: A Bold Public Policy Initiative." *Public Sector Digest* (June).

People for Education. (2018). 2018 Annual report on schools: The new basics for public education. Toronto: People for Education.

Pysyk, David. (2000). Restructuring Alberta School Systems (PhD Thesis). Edmonton: University of Alberta.

Queiser, Sharma. (2017). *Missing Opportunities: How Budget Policies Continue to Leave Behind Low-Income Students*. Toronto: Social Planning Toronto.

Reddekopp, Lorenda. (2018). "Ford government proposes increase in at-home unlicensed daycare spaces." CBC News (December 6).

Ruckert, Arne, Sam Caldbick, and Ronald Labonté. (2015). "Equity in Times of Austerity: Ontario's Revenue Crisis in Historical Perspective." Canadian Review of Social Policy 72/72: 1-34.

Rushowy, Kristin, and Rob Ferguson. (2015). "Special ed cuts to hit most Ontario boards." *Toronto Star* (March 12).

Saul, Nick. (2018). "There's No 'Dignity' In Ford Government's Welfare Reform." *Huffington Post* (November 23).

Schleicher, Andreas. (2018). Valuing our Teachers and Raising their Status: How Communities Can Help. Paris: OECD.

Sharpe, Andrew, and Jean-Francois Arsenault. (2010). *Investing in Aboriginal Education in Canada: An Economic Perspective*. Ottawa: Centre for the Study of Living Standards.

Somerville, Robin. (2017). *The Economic Benefits of Public Infrastructure Spending in Ontario*. Milton: Centre for Spatial Economics.

Tranjan, Ricardo. (2018). "Public and social services jobs: an economic lifeline in communities across Ontario." *CCPA Behind the Numbers* (August 29).

World Economic Forum. (2017). *The Global Risks Report 2017*. Geneva: World Economic Forum.

Zussman, Richard. (2016). "BCTF wins Supreme Court battle over class size and composition." CBC News (November 10).